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The trustees present their report together with the accounts of the Franciscan Missionaries 

of the Divine Motherhood Charitable Trust (the “charity”) for the year ended 31 December 

2019. 

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out on 

pages 40 to 45 of the attached accounts and comply with the charity’s trust deed, 

applicable laws and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 

Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), 

effective from accounting periods commencing 1 January 2015 or later. 

INTRODUCTION 

The Congregation of the Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood (the FMDM) is 

an international Roman Catholic Religious Congregation supporting 212 sisters world-wide.  

The sisters work in 11 countries of the world and comprise 38 communities. The 

community houses are generally located in those areas where it is believed that the sisters 

can provide the most help to the poor and marginalised.  Often these are socially deprived 

areas desperately in need of the care and pastoral work carried out by the sisters.  

The accounts which accompany this report are those of the charitable trust on which the 

assets of the Congregation in England and Scotland are held.   

MISSION 

The object of the Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood Charitable Trust, as 

set out in its governing document, is for such charitable purposes as shall advance the 

religious and other charitable work of the Congregation connected with the advancement of 

the Roman Catholic religion. Our Franciscan charism is summed up perfectly in a recent 

Tweet from Pope Francis: 

 

 

By caring for individual members who have made a life-long commitment to the 

Congregation, the charity aims to enable and support the sisters to live out their faith and to 

put that faith into practice through a wide variety of religious and other charitable works.  

When setting the objectives and planning the work of the charity for the year, and when 

encouraging the work of individual sisters, the trustees have given careful consideration to 

the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit. 
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MISSION (continued)  

In the light of this, it is important to note that ‘charity’ and the public benefit lies at the heart 

of the mission of the Catholic Church and, therefore, is central to the mission of any 

Religious Congregation.  

Canon law states that any temporal goods acquired, retained and administered must be 

for: 

“Divine worship, support of ministers and to perform works of charity, 

especially towards the needy”. (Code of Canon Law 1254). 

Inspiration can be drawn from Pope Francis, who shared his thoughts in an address to 

sisters gathered in Rome in 2017: 

“Never tire of exercising continually the art of listening and sharing. In 

this time of great challenges, which demand of consecrated people 

creative fidelity, impassioned research, listening and sharing are more 

important than ever before, if we want our life to be fully meaningful for 

ourselves and for the people we meet.” 

Pope Francis said this practice requires: 

“A climate of discernment, to recognize what belongs to the Spirit and 

what is contrary to Him.” 

He encouraged the sisters to ask two questions at both the personal and community level: 

“Lord, what do you want me to do? What do you want us to do?” 

The Pope warned against the dangers of a spirit of resignation, suggesting that the devil 

might tempt them by citing their small numbers or their few vocations and otherwise do 

what he can to make them have long faces. 

“I encourage you also to be prophets of hope, with eyes turned to the 

future, where the Spirit pushes you, to continue to do great things with 

you. The hope that does not disappoint is not based on numbers or 

works, but on Him, for whom nothing is impossible. With this trust and 

this strength I repeat to you: do not join the prophets of misfortune, who 

do great damage to the Church and to consecrated life; do not give in to 

the temptation of torpor – like the Apostles in Gethsemane – and 

desperation,” 

He concluded: 

“Awaken the world, illuminate the future! Always with a smile, with joy, 

with hope. May Mary our Mother protect you with her gaze, and the Lord 

bless you, show you His Face, and grant you peace and mercy.” 

The works and ministries of the sisters of the Congregation fall into the following main 

areas: 
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MISSION (continued)  

Life of Prayer 

Personal and communal prayer are central to the lives of the members of the 

Congregation. For this reason the sisters are given the opportunity to develop their 

relationship with Jesus Christ and their knowledge of Church teachings through quiet 

prayer, study of the Scriptures and spiritual and human development. This development 

enables the sisters to reach out to the wider community including people of all faiths and 

none.  They do this through the provision of spiritual guidance or by just being available to 

listen in times of need, through retreat work and by participating in liturgy, prayer groups 

and other church services. 

Social and pastoral work 

Many members of the Congregation are involved in various forms of social or pastoral 

work throughout the country and abroad, including care of the elderly and people with 

special needs, family support, chaplaincy in hospitals, working with refugees and asylum 

seekers, educational establishments and prisons. Several sisters are working in 

collaboration with other charities which share similar charitable objectives. The sisters aim 

to help, in particular, the poor and marginalised in society regardless of their personal 

background, faith, gender or individual circumstances. 

Healthcare work 

Many members of the Congregation are involved in various forms of healthcare work.  As 

with social and pastoral work the sisters aim to help, in particular, the poor and 

marginalised in society regardless of their personal background, faith, gender or individual 

circumstances. 

Education 

Several members of the Congregation are involved in education at different levels; from 

primary, secondary, tertiary levels to informal models of education.  

Operation of a care facilities 

In La Verna, at Ladywell Convent, Godalming, the care home owned and operated by the 

charity, the sisters ensure the provision of high quality care and assistance to the elderly 

members of the Congregation in need of care in their later years. 

In Ireland the charity helps support sisters working in social and pastoral fields and also 

those living in Franciscan Convent, a care home for the sisters, where high quality care 

and assistance is provided to the elderly members of the Irish Region in need of care in 

their later years. 
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MISSION (continued)  

Operation of a Retreat and Spirituality Centre 

The sisters run a Retreat and Spirituality Centre at Ladywell Convent, Godalming, in the 

spacious and beautiful grounds, where both religious and members of the general public 

can benefit from the quiet and peaceful setting. The Centre is currently closed, as the 

Convent undergoes a significant refurbishment programme, which is due to be completed 

in 2021. 

Overseas missionary work 

The charity also helps support sisters working in healthcare, social, educational and 

pastoral fields in Zimbabwe, Zambia, Ireland, Italy, Australia, Malaysia, Singapore and 

Nigeria, thereby helping some of the world’s poorest and most disadvantaged people. 

Presently, one sister is working in Palestine and Gaza in collaboration with Caritas 

Jerusalem. 

OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES 

As stated above under ‘Mission’, the aims of the charity are to care for individual members 

of the Congregation throughout their lives within the Congregation and so enable and 

support them to live out their faith and to put that faith into practice through a wide variety 

of religious and other charitable works. 

Caring for members of the Congregation 

In common with many religious congregations in England, the age profile of the members 

of the Congregation is increasing, as existing members grow older and the number of new 

vocations becomes minimal.   

The age profile of the Congregation in England is shown graphically below:  
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Caring for members of the Congregation (continued) 

The Congregation has an obligation, both moral and legal, to provide care for its members, 

none of whom have resources of their own and all of whom have devoted a significant part 

of their lives to the care of the poor and marginalised in society.  As the age profile of the 

Congregation increases there are more sisters needing a greater level of care, which 

increases the cost of care.  At present 37 (2018: 34) of the members of the Congregation 

are receiving care in the charity’s care home, La Verna, Ladywell. 

Over the next decade, the trustees expect this number requiring care to reach its peak.  As 

a consequence, the trustees are giving careful consideration to the impact of this on the 

work of individual members of the Congregation, the property requirements of the 

Congregation and the financial implications.  In this regard, the objectives of the trustees 

over the current year are summarised below: 

 Ensuring all members of the Congregation receive the appropriate level of care they 

require to provide them with the quality of life they have a right to expect. 

 Reviewing the charity’s properties used as community houses and assessing their 

suitability as homes for the elderly and frail.  Those identified as being unsuitable will 

be adapted or, if this proves impossible, sold and replaced with properties more 

appropriate for the elderly.  

 Enabling all members of the Congregation to continue with their individual ministries 

for as long as possible. 

All of these objectives are expected to be applicable for the next few years. 

Enabling and supporting members in a variety of religious and charitable works 

The Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood Charitable Trust aims to support 

the religious and other charitable ministries carried out by the sisters of the Congregation.  

The sisters work in England, Scotland and the Congregation’s overseas missions in 

Zambia, Zimbabwe, Nigeria, Australia, Singapore, Malaysia, Ireland and Italy. Presently, 

there is one sister working in Jerusalem and one living in the USA. The ministries of the 

sisters throughout the Congregation, in England, Scotland and the overseas missions, are 

directed and administered from Ladywell Convent in the UK, the Motherhouse of the 

Congregation. See our website www.fmdminternational.co.uk for further details.  They can 

be divided into six principal areas:  

 

 Life of prayer; 

 Social, pastoral and educational work provided by the sisters; 

 Healthcare work provided by the sisters; 

 Ownership and operation of a care home for the elderly sisters; 

http://www.fmdminternational.co.uk/
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Enabling and supporting members in a variety of religious and charitable works 

(continued)  

 Ownership and operation of a Retreat and Spirituality Centre; and 

 Support of overseas missionary work.   

Each of these is considered in turn below. 

Life of prayer 

The charity is committed to helping as many people as possible to join the sisters in prayer 

with the aim of putting faith into action through prayer, scripture, music and sacraments.  

The sisters are involved in a number of activities which include: 

 Promoting the values and vision of the Gospel message, such as the dignity of human 

life, respect for different cultures, a society based on justice and peace and care and 

respect for all creation; 

 Offering Days of Prayer which give members of the public from all walks of life the 

opportunity to escape the stresses of everyday life for a short time and take time for 

quiet contemplation and reflection and the chance to read and reflect on the 

Scriptures; 

 Providing religious instruction, spiritual direction and supervision; 

 Providing retreats where those who attend can reflect in a peaceful atmosphere and be 

rooted in Gospel values;  

 Praying with those who are housebound, sick or dying; and 

 Offering intentional and intercessional prayer. 

Social, pastoral and educational work 

Many sisters in England, Scotland, Ireland, Australia, Nigeria, Zambia, Zimbabwe, 

Singapore, Malaysia and Italy are involved in numerous forms of social, pastoral and 

educational work depending on the needs of the people of the country and the professional 

training of the sisters, thereby furthering the Gospel message to help one another and to 

love one’s neighbour. 

Several of the social, pastoral and educational works of the charity are carried out in 

collaboration with other organisations who have similar objectives. The following are 

examples of the social, pastoral, and educational work undertaken by individual sisters: 

 Working in parishes, visiting the housebound, organising catechetical programmes, 

giving Days of Prayer and generally helping parishioners develop their spiritual lives in 

various ways; 
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Enabling and supporting members in a variety of religious and charitable works 

(continued)  

Social, pastoral and educational work (continued) 

 Working in homecare services for the elderly, the housebound and those suffering 

from dementia; 

 Working with the elderly in the poorer areas of large cities; 

 Working in schools and with youth who have dropped out of regular schooling, and 

children with special need; 

 Working with displaced people, refugees and those seeking asylum; 

 Nursing in a number of fields, including palliative care and home based nursing; 

 Counselling services for children and adults caught in addiction, dysfunctional families 

and those seeking healing;   

 Media and publications for Religious Formation;  

 Administrative and secretarial support to church organisations; 

 Pastoral care / chaplaincy in hospitals and prisons; 

 Inter-religious dialogue;  

 Community development; and 

 Providing education for children who otherwise could not afford to go to school. 

The objectives of the trustees in this area include: 

 Enabling the active members of the Congregation to carry out meaningful social, 

environmental and pastoral work within the community after assessing their skills and 

the needs of the local area; 

 Encouraging and motivating members to work with and assist the poor, elderly and 

marginalised; and 

 Ensuring sisters, wherever possible, are remunerated for such work by way of salary or 

stipend.  Such income is donated to the charity and thereby ensures that the work of 

the sisters and charity may develop and continue into the future. 

A fine example of providing pastoral care was when the sisters in La Verna welcomed 

Sister Jeanne Dark Poulos, a Dominican Sister of St Catherine of Sienna, to their home.  

Sister Jeanne, born in Karakush in the plain of Nineveh in Northern Iraq, is a biology 

teacher by profession, but her Congregation was forced out of her country by ISIS.  Her 

most recent teaching post was as Headmistress of a secondary school in Kurdistan in one 

of the camps for Iraqi Christians and Muslims displaced by the ISIS occupation of Iraq.   
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Enabling and supporting members in a variety of religious and charitable works 

(continued)  

Social, pastoral and educational work (continued) 

 
Sister Jeanne relaxing with Sister Mary Burke FMDM, and right, 

celebrating her birthday with the La Verna sisters 

 

Sister Jeanne came to live with our FMDM sisters initially for a month, but ended up 

staying for a further four months, utilising the rest and renewal time to learn English and 

avail herself of some ‘Alternative to Violence’ workshops, which help victims of trauma and 

war to find healing and peace.  

One of Sister Jeanne’s greatest delights in her time at La Verna was to look after one of 

our smaller gardens and this gave her especially great joy.  Having lived in the refugee 

camps of Kurdistan for almost four years without anything green growing, it proved to be a 

tonic and provided healing for both her soul and spirit. 

Sister Jeanne’s greatest desire is to return to Iraq and help her own people to live through 

the continuing emotional and economic hardships which they endure on a daily basis.   

Working in the community is something that Sister Shirley Aeria FMDM holds close to her 

heart. She works with the Ecological Conversion Group of Arundel and Brighton Diocese. 

They are part of ‘Project Journey to 2030’ which was launched to tie in with the 

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change to successfully curb our greenhouse gases, 

and the United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals. The main aims of this project 

are: 

 To mobilise all parishes to work together in tackling the ecological crises of our time. 

 Encourage community building and a spirit of sharing to enable parishes to flourish as 

the hub of the community. 
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Enabling and supporting members in a variety of religious and charitable works 

(continued)  

Social, pastoral and educational work (continued) 

 Educate and bring to greater awareness present ecological issues so that positive 

attitudes can be developed towards caring for the environment. 

Shirley also works with the Croydon Conservation group which has been in existence for 

over sixty years. They have field trips every week to different woodlands, parks and 

commons to do practical conservation work such as coppicing trees and bushes to enable 

healthy growth. That means they preserve the habitats of endangered species e.g. 

dormice, birds and wild life and check on the status of trees, water sources, etc. Sister 

Shirley also does practical conservation work in the Croydon Ecology Centre once a week. 

 
Sister Shirley Aeria FMDM in the thick of her conservation mission, and  

Ben ‘the resident lawnmower’ at the Croydon Ecology Centre 

As Shirley sums up: 

“Ecology and the love of creation are the warp and woof of my life as a 

Franciscan. My present ministry in conservation opens me to various 

experiences and learnings. If every single person on this planet can do their 

bit, our ‘common home’ will be able to recover from the dire state it is in at 

present.” 

Healthcare work 

The charity provides support for all forms of the healthcare services provided by the 

Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood both within the United Kingdom and 

abroad as needs require.  The support is varied: financial, the provision of personnel, visits 

carried out by the Superior General and General Councillors and reviews carried out in 

Ladywell, UK, with senior personnel from the various UK and overseas healthcare 

institutions. 
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Enabling and supporting members in a variety of religious and charitable works 

(continued)  

Healthcare work (continued) 

The following are examples of the healthcare work undertaken by individual sisters: 

 Nursing and pastoral care of patients in hospitals, hospices, nursing homes and clinics, 

physiotherapy, Maternal and Primary Health Care; and 

 Governance roles in FMDM-owned healthcare services.  

The objectives of the trustees in this area include: 

 Encouraging those members of the Congregation who are involved with health care to 

provide excellent, up-to-date and relevant care to patients; 

 Ensuring the charity’s mission and ethos continue in the institutions owned by the 

Congregation and administered by lay staff; and  

 Ensuring the institutions governed by the trustees have effective management in place 

as the Congregation addresses the ageing profile of members living in those countries. 

Care home 

Care of our elderly sisters in England and throughout the world is an increasingly important 

part of our ministry. The charity owns and operates La Verna, Ladywell, a 38 bed care 

home for the elderly sisters in England. 

The philosophy of care at La Verna is to ensure a homely, friendly and open atmosphere 

among sisters and staff whilst maintaining the privacy, dignity, rights and quality of life of all 

the sisters. 
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Enabling and supporting members in a variety of religious and charitable works 

(continued)  

Care home (continued) 

Mission is alive and knitting at La Verna! Sisters in the hand-knitting group produced a fine 

array of items for sale, which along with a raffle and the sale of other items netted £1,300 

for Mary’s Meals, a charity that provides a daily school meal for children in the world’s 

poorest communities. 

We do not have to register as a Care Facility; however, we comply as fully as possible with 

the National Minimum Care Standards laid down by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 

and employ a designated Care Home Manager to ensure our high standards are 

maintained.  During 2019 we have increased the care staff establishment, to further 

reinforce the excellent standards of care in La Verna. We are committed to safeguarding 

and promoting the welfare of the sisters and expect all staff and volunteers to share that 

commitment.   

The charity has worked with a number of specialist organisations to ensure that the 

facilities and services are in line with best practice and offer the best possible environment 

for the sisters. 

In operating La Verna the trustees aim to: 

 Provide excellent nursing and domiciliary care to the older sisters to ensure that their 

needs are met fully and that they enjoy as high a quality of life as possible; and 

 Employ high quality staff to care for the elderly sisters ensuring that all such staff 

obtain the necessary qualifications and training needed for their work. 

Retreat and Spirituality Centre 

The charity owns and operates a Retreat and Spirituality Centre in Ladywell Convent which 

can provide directed, preached and holistic retreats.  It comprises 25 single rooms, three 

twin bedded rooms, a main chapel and two smaller chapels/oratories at first floor and 

ground floor levels, a spacious conference room, two smaller meeting rooms and other 

quiet rooms. However, the vast majority of our retreats are currently on hold, as these 

facilities are being refurbished to provide both up-to-date accommodation for our sisters, 

and improved facilities for those visiting the retreat centre.   

When the Centre re-opens in 2021, people of all faiths and none will be welcome to come 

as individuals or in groups, to use one of our programmed events. The Centre will offer 

varied and exciting events, or allow visitors to the Centre to run their own programmes and 

we have accommodated both national and international groups in the past. 

The Centre has spacious grounds and lovely woodland walks and people find it to be an 

oasis of peace, away from the stresses of life, where they can find space and freedom to 

explore their own deep desires, values and beliefs in a reflective atmosphere.  
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Enabling and supporting members in a variety of religious and charitable works 

(continued)  

Retreat and Spirituality Centre (continued) 

In operating the Retreat and Spirituality Centre the trustees aim to: 

 Ensure all those who attend can reflect in a peaceful atmosphere, where Gospel 

values can be transmitted and experienced; 

 Encourage a sense of dignity and self-worth and promote a caring relationship and 

respect for others; and 

 Maintain the financial security of the Retreat and Spirituality Centre through careful 

budgeting. Every effort is made to ensure the viability of the Retreat and Spirituality 

Centre is not threatened whilst at the same time not restricting access to those looking 

for a tranquil environment or those who would benefit from the retreats offered, but 

cannot afford the recommended donation. 

Overseas missionary work 

The charity provides financial support for the Congregation’s social, pastoral, educational 

and healthcare missions in Zimbabwe, Zambia, Ireland, Italy, Australia, Malaysia, 

Singapore and Nigeria. The missions are directed and administered from Ladywell 

Convent in the UK, the Motherhouse of the Congregation, in collaboration with the FMDM 

sisters in these countries. The financial support is used to meet the personal and living 

expenses of the sisters, and to provide funds for the various mission works the sisters are 

involved with. The support enables the sisters to continue to care for some of the poorest 

and most marginalised in society – an objective which is consistent with the values of the 

Gospel.  The individuals who benefit include those of all faiths and none, and the help they 

receive can often mean the difference between human dignity and being lost to a system 

that does not provide basic needs for its citizens.   

Grants, donations and support of missionary work and ministry 
 

Grants, donations and other payments in support of missionary work and ministry are 

decided on by the trustees in consultation with other members of the Congregation, as 

appropriate. In the main, the charity supports the ministries of the Congregation of the 

Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood in overseas countries, inviting them to 

apply formally for grants from the FMDM Small Projects Fund, to support their mission 

work. Some examples of the projects approved and funded in 2019, are below. 

In January 2019, Sister Norah Rohan FMDM applied to the Small Project Fund for £1,100 

to set up a project aimed at helping two former prisoners from Jos, Nigeria, to earn an 

honest, useful, and productive living, after their release. Sister Norah knew both men well 

from her regular and ongoing visits to the prison, to encourage Inter-Religious Dialogue 

(IRD) between Christian and Muslim inmates. 
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Grants, donations and support of missionary work and ministry (continued) 

She had seen potential and a willingness to change in both George and Emmanuel, who 

had each taken the initiative to acquire skills in their chosen trades of leatherwork and 

tailoring, respectively. Sister Norah wanted to give both men the support and an 

opportunity to get their lives back on track, by providing them with the help they needed to 

set themselves up in their chosen trades. 

 

Emmanuel runs his tailoring business from his parents’ home in Jos, Nigeria, whereas  

George attends to a customer in the shop provided for him through Sister Norah’s project 

 

In March 2019, Sister Magdalene Cletus FMDM, applied to the Small Project Fund for 

£840 to rehabilitate the borehole at St Mary’s CRI School in Yola, Nigeria. The original 

borehole was no longer functional, and the lack of available clean water was creating 

significant health and hygiene problems for the school’s 17 teachers and 359 pupils, who 

were having to buy ‘drinking water’ of unknown origin from local vendors. There was also 

no clean water to ensure basic hygiene measures around the school, such as hand 

washing and toilet flushing.  
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Grants, donations and support of missionary work and ministry (continued) 

 

 

Work begins to rehabilitate and plumb the borehole at St. Mary’s CRI School in Yola, 

Nigeria, and right, a member of the local community sampling the finished product. 

 

Since the borehole was rehabilitated, hygiene and good health have been restored to the 

school; considerable savings have been made now that water no longer has to be bought, 

and the health of the wider community has also improved because the borehole helps 

provide surrounding communities with supplies of safe drinking water. 

Overseas ministry - social, pastoral and educational work 

It would be a considerable challenge to document all of our achievements during the last 

year, so the following pages focus on a small number of specific achievements which will 

hopefully give a flavour of the work done by FMDM sisters across the world and the value 

that they add to society. 
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Grants, donations and support of missionary work and ministry (continued) 

Palestine 

Sister Bee Kennedy FMDM identified a need at St. Joseph’s Nursery in Bethlehem, which 

is run by the Dominican Sisters and cares for around 40 young Christian Palestinian 

children, many of whom are traumatised from witnessing violence, anxiety, and distress. 

 

Sister Bridget Tighe FMDM visiting Sister Marlene of the Dominican Sisters and sleeping 
quarters at the Nursery 

The Nursery was struggling to keep going due to lack of funding, and that’s where FMDM 

stepped in, with funding of £10,600 to allow two full-time staff members to be employed for 

a year. The Nursery is open from 7am – 4pm, 6 days a week, 12 months a year, and 

provides respite and support for their mothers who are working, or sick.  

As Sister Kennedy explains: 

“The senior staff are capable, experienced women, mothers themselves. They 

meet with the relatives or guardians of the children frequently. I experience 

them as caring, understanding women who use modern methods of play, 

dining, outdoor games and recreation. 

 

Morning school-time is an important part of the day in a nicely appointed 

classroom. Sisters Marline and Victoria are present every day and supervise all 

activities. They are both elderly, but have years of experience in teaching and 

healthcare.” 
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Overseas ministry - social, pastoral and educational work (continued) 

Palestine (continued) 

 

The funding has made such a difference to local families that Sister Kennedy has applied 

for and been granted a second year of funding from FMDM. 

 
Children at play in the nursery 

Nigeria 

Sister Judith Igbojionu FMDM teaches science at St Peter’s Seminary School in Yola, 

Adamawa State, Nigeria, and was conscious the classroom was falling into a state of 

disrepair (see pictures below). She duly made an application for FMDM project funding to 

renovate and re-roof the existing make-shift science block at the School, and to develop it 

into a purpose-built science teaching facility. 

The work was completed in October 2019, making the environment conducive, relaxed and 

appropriate for the teaching and learning of science. The instalment of the fans has helped 

to cool the lab so that the students are not disorientated by the weather conditions as they 

were previously, and the new workstations and stools have brought an end to previously 

cramped working conditions. 
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Overseas ministry - social, pastoral and educational work (continued) 

Nigeria (continued) 

 

 

The Science laboratories were in great need of renovation 

 

 
The newly renovated classroom at St Peter’s Seminary School 

A further funding grant was subsequently made available to Sister Igbojionu, so that a 

projector and laptop could be purchased to assist with classroom tuition, as well as 

enabling the refurbishment of a defunct microscope and the provision of numerous 

classroom aids.  
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Overseas ministry - social, pastoral and educational work (continued) 

Zambia 

We have continued in 2019 to serve the vulnerable, poor and marginalized in Zambia 

through the following ministries:  

 Little Assisi Day Care Centre and School for children with Special Needs in Lusaka; 

 Pre-school, Primary School and Adult Literacy at St Francis Community School in 

Kasanka; 

 Palliative care and HIV/AIDS work; 

 Prayer Companions training; 

 Accompanying Associates; 

 School chaplaincy; 

 Outreach to Street Children; and 

 Parish work – working with children, youth and women. 

 

We also continue to network and partner with other Religious and NGOs locally, nationally 

and internationally to ensure a meaningful and sustainable impact on the lives of the poor 

and vulnerable around us.  

FMDM in Zambia has a strong tradition of supporting children in education, with 24 children 

currently being supported in Lusaka, and many more in Kasanka. The sisters are also 

helping one student through University and another through nurse training. 

 
Some of the children being helped with their education by FMDM (Top row: Joseph, Martin, 

Yvonne and Blessing. Bottom row: Innocent, Andrew, Rebecca and Delphister) 
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Overseas ministry - social, pastoral and educational work (continued) 

Zambia (continued) 

The Prayer Companions Programme has long been an initiative that FMDM has been 

involved with in Zambia. As far back as January 2006 Sister Ann Kelly FMDM became 

involved, and but for a year where she had to return to England, she has been involved 

ever since. There is a definite hunger among the people of God in Zambia to grow in their 

relationship with God. Praying the scriptures in a profoundly personal way is touching 

people deeply and bringing grace filled changes to their lives. Virtually all retreatants say 

that they have never prayed in this way before.   

 
A busy Prayer Companion retreat in the local prison and Course Director, Sister Ann Kelly 

FMDM oversees another retreat in the open air 

 

Over the years more than 150 Prayer Companions have been commissioned to hold 

retreats, with over 100 of them still active and holding Prayer Retreats in Kafue, Mazabuka 

and Lusaka.  

In 2019, the prayer companions between them gave 43 retreats.  38 of these were in 21 

different parishes, one in a school for the teachers, one in the University of Zambia to the 

students and three in prisons.  They reached about 1,200 retreatants. 

Zimbabwe 

FMDM Zimbabwe also has a strong tradition of supporting children in education, who 

otherwise would not have the opportunity due to lack of financial resources. One such 

student in Zimbabwe was Bekhilizwe Zwelinjani. 

Bheki’s four years at University were funded by FMDM because the FMDM Sisters could 

see his potential and his father, as the sole provider for Bheki and his young brother, 

couldn’t afford his further education. Bheki made the very most of every opportunity 

afforded to him at University: joining the Young Ambassadors Forum, being nominated for 

a research project at the US Embassy in Harare, and he was chosen to represent 

Zimbabwe at the Model United Nations General Assembly.  
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Overseas ministry - social, pastoral and educational work (continued) 

Zimbabwe (continued) 

 
Bheki representing Zimbabwe at the Model United Nations General Assembly and with the 

Nigerian Ambassador to Zimbabwe on the final day 

 

After his graduation in June 2019, where he gained an Upper Second Class BSc in Local 

Governance Studies from Midlands State University in Gweru, Zimbabwe, Bheki 

considered his options for the future and is keen to join the newly formed FMDM Southern 

African Development Team, based in Victoria Falls, as Projects Officer. This reality has 

been placed on hold however, due to the lockdown resulting from the COVID-19 outbreak. 

Investment policy 

The charity had a portfolio of listed investments with a market value of £80.7 million at 31 

December 2019 (2018 - £70.6 million). During 2019 the investments were managed by 

BlackRock Investment Management (UK) Limited, a company which operated within 

specific guidelines that are set out and regularly reviewed by the trustees.  The capital gain 

reflected favourable market conditions throughout the year, especially towards the end of 

the year.  

UK FTSE 100 Stock Market Index 
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES (continued)  

Investment policy (continued) 

The increase in capital largely recovered the losses made during 2018, and whilst capital 

growth is beneficial to the charity, it should be remembered that the key element to our 

investment strategy is to maximise long-term total return. 

At present our investment guidelines include an ethical policy precluding investment in any 

company which, after reasonable enquiry, clearly has significant profits from an activity 

which is contrary to the objectives of the Catholic Church. There are no restrictions on the 

charity’s power to invest.  The investment strategy is set by the trustees, having taken 

advice from their Financial Advisory Committee (FAC), and takes into account income 

requirements, the risk profile and the investment manager’s view of the market prospects 

in the medium term. 

The overall investment objectives are to maximise total return through a diversified 

portfolio whilst providing a level of income advised by the trustees from time to time. 

The performance of the portfolio and the charity’s investment strategy are reviewed by the 

trustees and their FAC who meet with the investment managers every three months. 

EFFECTS OF COVID-19 OUTBREAK 

General impact 

Since the end of the 2019 financial year and before production of this report, the COVID-19 

virus has caused worldwide disruption. Whilst the ramifications of this pandemic are many 

and varied, and largely beyond the control of the charity, it has impacted on FMDM in a 

number of ways: 

 We have placed our care homes in Ireland and England into lockdown from mid-March 

2020, with only key workers allowed in and out;  

 The ministries of the Congregation have been severely curtailed across the globe, with 

face-to-face contacts restricted and ‘stay at home’ instructions commonplace; 

 Lay staff have been encouraged to work at home where possible. Where they have not 

been able to do so, a small number have been furloughed under the government 

scheme; 

 The refurbishment of Ladywell Convent has slowed, due to the contractor following the 

social distancing guidelines for essential workers. 

Financial consequences 

COVID-19 did have a significant impact on the world’s stock markets, with share prices 

falling across the board. However, most markets have rallied since the initial reaction and 

as at 9 June 2020 the capital value of FMDM’s investment portfolio had only dropped by 

4½%. when compared to the valuation at 31 December 2019. 
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EFFECTS OF COVID-19 OUTBREAK (continued) 

Financial consequences (continued) 

Of more concern is the decision by many companies to not pay a dividend in 2020. This 

will decrease FMDM’s annual income from investments significantly in 2020, and possibly 

2021 too. Because of this it is highly likely FMDM will operate at a deficit in 2020, with that 

deficit being offset against the sisters’ retirement fund detailed in Note 17 to the attached 

accounts. 

Despite the challenges that COVID-19 will undoubtedly present, the trustees are of the 

view that the charity has the financial and other resources needed to sustain it during, and 

in the aftermath of, the pandemic. 

FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR 

Results for the financial year  

A summary of the year’s results can be found on page 36 of the accounts. 

For the year ended 31 December 2019 total income amounted to £7,054,555 (2018 - 

£5,748,837).  Of this income, a total of £3,927,813 (2018 - £2,646,505) was received by 

way of donations and legacies and £3,078,482 (2018 - £2,494,317) was the income 

returned by the charity’s investments.   

Expenditure for the year totalled £6,107,732 (2018 - £5,157,876). Expenditure incurred on 

maintaining the members of the Congregation and supporting them in their ministry 

amounted to £4,134,605 (2018 - £3,312,524). Expenditure on grants, donations and the 

support of missionary work amounted to £1,821,517 (2018 - £1,707,975). The expenditure 

on investment manager’s fees was £151,610 (2018 - £137,377).     

Net income before investment gains for the year, therefore, was £946,823 (2018 – net 

income before investment losses £590,961).  

After accounting for the net investment gains of £8,695,844 (2018 – net investment losses 

of £6,456,407), the net income for the year and the overall net increase in funds was 

£9,642,667 (2018 – net expenditure and net decrease in funds of £5,865,446).     

Investment performance 

The charity’s listed investment portfolio, managed by BlackRock Investment Management 

(UK) Limited had a market value of £86.1m (2018 - £76.8m), and represents the funds 

available to care for members of the Congregation in later life, the overseas projects fund 

and part of the general funds.  

The investment managers continued to invest in accordance with the trustees’ investment 

policy set out earlier in this report. Further details of investment portfolio are provided in 

note 12 to the attached accounts. 
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FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR (continued) 

Investment performance (continued) 

As noted above, since the year end, global stock markets had become volatile in response 

to the COVID-19 pandemic.  However, most markets have rallied since the initial reaction 

and as at 9 June 2020 the capital value of FMDM’s listed investment portfolio had only 

dropped by 4½%. when compared to the valuation at 31 December 2019. 

The trustees will continue to monitor the position but the charity is a long term investor and 

will await the anticipated medium term market recovery whilst remaining cautious of the 

fact that the decision taken by many companies to not pay a dividend in 2020 will likely 

decrease FMDM’s annual income from investments significantly in 2020. 

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the charity disposed of its investment property 

for net consideration of £991,000. 

Reserves policy 

The reader will discern from the review of the year that the charity carries out a diverse 

range of activities and is responsible for care and support of sisters whose average age is 

increasing and whose needs are changing. The trustees have examined the need for free 

reserves i.e. those unrestricted funds not invested in tangible fixed assets, designated for 

specific purposes or otherwise committed. The trustees consider that, given the nature of 

the charity’s work and its commitments, the level of free reserves should be approximately 

four months’ expenditure. 

Financial position 

The balance sheet shows total reserves of £103.4 million (2018 - £93.8 million). Of this, 

£14.2 million (2018 - £14.2 million) is represented by properties and other tangible fixed 

assets essential for the support and work of the sisters and forms the tangible fixed assets 

fund. 

In addition, the trustees have set aside £87.5 million (2018 - £78.2 million) to meet the 

costs of the care and welfare of the sisters in later life.  

The funds set aside to provide for the sisters in later life, none of whom have resources of 

their own, have been re-assessed during the year. The calculations, based on actuarial 

methods, indicated that £90.6m (2018 - £82.6 million) is needed to be set aside in order to 

provide £22,025 (2018 - £18,770) per annum for sisters over 65 years of age and, because 

of the greater health needs, £35,961 (2018 - £32,020) per annum for sisters over 75 years 

of age. In these accounts £86.5 million (2018 - £77.2 million) has been set aside for this 

purpose constrained by the funds available to the charity.     

In addition to the above, £1 million (2018 - £1 million) has been set aside to provide for the 

longer term care and provision for sisters native to Nigeria, Zambia and Zimbabwe. These 

sisters have limited access to salaries and pensions or other income that will be available 

to help them look after themselves in later life. 
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FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR (continued)  

Financial position (continued) 

Of the remaining funds £200,609 (2018 - £204,111) are restricted funds held mainly on 

behalf of overseas missions.  

Funds available to support the work of the sisters in the future, in particular the support of 

the Congregation’s missionary and healthcare work overseas, are shown as general funds 

on the balance sheet, and amount to £1,430,484 (2018 - £1,085,855). This figure needs to 

be considered in the light of annual expenditure in excess of £4 million, the increasing age 

profile of the sisters and the need for the charity to continue to support the work of the 

Congregation, both in this country and overseas. It needs also to seen in the context of the 

current Covid-19 pandemic and the financial challenges that brings as described above. 

The trustees are of the opinion that the free reserves are adequate but not excessive.   

Tax exemptions 

The beneficiaries of the work of the charity have the assurance that all of the income of the 

charity must be applied for charitable purposes in furtherance of the charity’s object of 

advancing the religious and other charitable work of the Congregation connected with the 

advancement of the Roman Catholic religion. The Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine 

Motherhood Charitable Trust enjoys tax exemption on income from its activities and on its 

investment income and gains provided these are applied for its charitable aims. As a 

charity, it is also entitled to a reduction of 80% on business rates on the properties it 

occupies for its charitable purposes. The financial benefits received as a result of these 

exemptions are all applied for the purposes of advancing the religious and other charitable 

work of the Congregation connected with the advancement of the Roman Catholic religion 

by enabling and supporting the sisters to live out their faith and to put that faith into practice 

through a wide variety of religious and other charitable works, including the operation of a 

Retreat and Spirituality Centre.  

The nature of the charity’s activities means that it is unable to reclaim VAT input tax on its 

costs as it is exempt for VAT purposes. The charity also pays tax as an employer through 

the national insurance contributions it makes. 

The charity provides substantial benefits to the retreatants who use the Retreat and 

Spirituality Centre, the local communities and society in general through the social and 

pastoral work provided by sisters (often on a voluntary basis). In addition, the charity 

creates social assets without cost to the Exchequer through the significant amount of 

voluntary work carried out by the sisters.  
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FINANCIAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR (continued)  

Fundraising  

The charity on occasions receives donations and voluntary income. It aims always to 

achieve best practice in the way in which it communicates with parishes, donors and other 

supporters. It takes care with both the tone of its communications and the accuracy of its 

data to minimise the pressures on parishioners, parochial church councils, donors and 

supporters. It applies best practice to protect their data and never sells data, it never swaps 

data and ensures that communication preferences can be changed at any time. The 

charity manages its own activities in respect to raising funds and does not employ the 

services of professional fundraisers. The charity undertakes to react to and investigate any 

complaints regarding its activities for raising funds and to learn from them and improve its 

service. During the year, the charity received no formal complaints about its activities for 

raising funds. 

FUTURE PLANS 

The trustees will continue working with the Congregation and the relevant professional 

bodies in discerning the most effective structures to have in place into the future. 

Consideration is being given to the legal structure of the charity and the possibility of 

converting the existing trust into a number of CIO’s that will better serve the interests of the 

charity’s work and beneficiaries going forward. The evolving COVID-19 situation will also 

have a bearing on our plans. 

It is our intention to continue to meet the following objectives: 

England 

 To continue to remain focused on the importance of prayer in the lives of the individual 

sisters and to the overall mission of the charity;  

 To continue to care for the sisters and enable them to carry out their pastoral work and 

ministry.  Focus will continue to be given to assisting and caring for the elderly, the 

poor and the marginalised and reaching out to as many as possible; 

 To monitor the needs of the sisters as they grow older and, if necessary, adapt the 

charity’s plans in respect of property needs and the provision of care to elderly 

members. With this in mind, there are plans underway to make Ladywell more 

accessible for its ageing community;  

 To continue to encourage the elderly sisters to remain in the wider community, and 

continue their ministries to the people there, for as long as their health and age allow; 

 To continue to operate La Verna care home and, in particular, to provide the highest 

possible quality of care for the sisters in a dignified and friendly environment;  

 To continue to employ high quality staff and ensure that they are trained appropriately; 

and 

 To continue to provide a tranquil environment in a peaceful and reflective atmosphere 

at Ladywell. 
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FUTURE PLANS (continued) 

Overseas Missions 

 To support the Congregation’s work in Ireland, Zimbabwe, Zambia and Nigeria during 

2020; and 

 To continue working towards implementing a high quality, relevant age care service for 

the increasing number of elderly sisters in Malaysia and Singapore who need care. 

Scotland  

 To continue to remain focused on the importance of prayer in the lives of the each 

sister; and   

 To continue to care for the sisters and enable them to carry out their pastoral work and 

ministry.  Focus will continue to be given to assisting and caring for the elderly, the poor 

and the marginalised and reaching out to as many as possible. 

GOVERNANCE, STRUCTURE, AND MANAGEMENT 

Governance 

In terms of Canon law, the Congregation is governed at an international level by the 

Superior General and her General Council in England. The General Chapter of the 

Congregation, which is held every six years elects the Superior General, the First 

Councillor and three General Councillors. However, at the General Chapter in May 2019, a 

proposal was unanimously supported to ask for permission from Rome to amend the 

wording to “at least three Councillors”. This was approved by Rome. 

The sisters are chosen for their personal qualities, their understanding and experience of 

the ministries of the sisters throughout the world and to secure a good skills mix. The 

Congregation is divided up, in most cases according to country. In each country there is a 

Country Leader, who is appointed by the Superior General and her Council. 

In terms of Civil law, the charity is governed by a trust deed dated 1 December 1963 and is 

registered with the Charity Commission in England and Wales, Charity Registration 

Number 232098 and the Office of the Scottish Charity Regulator in Scotland, Charity 

Registration Number SC039352. 

The Superior General of the Congregation, the First Councillor, the two other General 

Councillors and the General Secretary are currently the trustees. They ensure that they 

attend trustee training days throughout their term as trustees. Where the trustees and 

members of the General Council do not have the relevant skills, advice is taken from 

professional advisors and standing advisory committees. 

The Superior General and her Council generally meet monthly to review developments 

regarding the charity including personnel changes, ministry developments and other issues 

of governance and mission. 

There is a system of accountability within the Congregation to ensure that the Superior 

General and her Council are fully aware of the progress and development of the ministries 

carried out by the sisters of the Congregation. 
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GOVERNANCE, STRUCTURE, AND MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Governance (continued) 

All trustees are members of the Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood and as 

such their living and personal costs are borne by the charity. 

The trustees are incorporated under the provisions of Part 12 of the Charities Act 2011 as 

“The Incorporated Trustees of the Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood”. 

The following trustees were in office during the year and up to the date of approval of this 

report:  

 Sister Jane Bertelsen  

 Sister Helen Doyle  

 Sister Claudia Lee  

 Sister Helena McEvilly  

 Sister Monica Weedon  

There have been no changes in trustees since the year end.  

L to R: Sister Monica Weedon, Sister Helen Doyle, Sister Jane Bertelsen 

and Sister Helena McEvilly (inset: Sr Claudia Lee). 

 

Statement of trustees’ responsibilities 

The trustees are responsible for preparing the trustees’ report and the accounts in 

accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United 

Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
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GOVERNANCE, STRUCTURE, AND MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Statement of trustees’ responsibilities (continued)  

The law applicable to charities in England and Wales and in Scotland requires the trustees 

to prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of 

the affairs of the charity and of the income and expenditure of the charity for that period.  In 

preparing these accounts, the trustees are required to: 

 Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

 Observe the methods and principles in Accounting and Reporting by Charities: 

Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts 

in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom 

and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102); 

 Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

 State whether applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards have been followed, 

subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the accounts; and 

 Prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 

that the charity will continue in operation. 

The trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with 

reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and enable them to 

ensure that the accounts comply with the Charities Act 2011, the Charities and Trustee 

Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the applicable Charities (Accounts and Reports) 

Regulations, and the provisions of the charity’s trust deed.  They are also responsible for 

safeguarding the assets of the charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Structure and management reporting  

The English Region comprises of 76 sisters, living in 7 different locations and communities. 

The community houses are generally located in those areas where it is believed that the 

sisters can provide the most help to the poor and marginalised.  

The trustees are ultimately responsible for the policies, activities and assets of the charity.  

They meet monthly to review developments with regard to the charity or its activities and 

make any important decisions. 

The day-to-day management of the charity’s activities, and the implementation of policies, 

is delegated to the appropriate members of the Congregation or senior staff, including the 

Head of Finance and Business Administration and the General Manager for Ladywell 

Campus. Senior management staff are line managed by trustees and have easy access to 

the trustees.  
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GOVERNANCE, STRUCTURE, AND MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Remuneration of key management personnel 

The trustees consider that they and the senior management team - the Head of Finance 

and Business Administration and the General Manager - comprise the key management of 

the charity in charge of directing and controlling, running and operating the charity on a day 

to day basis.   

In view of the nature of the work, the trustees benchmark pay rates against pay levels in 

other similar organisations. Senior management staff salaries are reviewed annually by the 

trustees. Pay is normally increased in accordance with average earnings. Remuneration is 

based on published pay rates for similar posts and takes into account responsibilities to 

ensure that remuneration paid is fair, and not out of line with that paid for similar roles. 

When deemed necessary, the trustees seek advice on benchmarking from specialist 

consultants. 

All trustees are members of the Congregation and their living costs and personal expenses 

are borne by the charity. They receive no remuneration or reimbursement of expenses in 

connection with their duties or responsibilities as trustees. 

Risk management   

In line with the requirement for trustees to undertake a risk assessment exercise and 

report on the same in their annual report, the trustees have assessed the major risks to 

which the charity is exposed. These risks are divided between those affecting the 

governance, in particular those relating to the specific operational areas of the charity, its 

investments and its finances, and those outside the charity’s control such as changes in 

government policy, laws and regulations. The trustees believe that by monitoring reserve 

levels, by ensuring controls exist over key financial systems, and by examining the 

operational and business risks faced by the charity, they have established systems to 

mitigate those risks. 

In addition to the key risks associated with COVID-19 (see above), the following key risks 

have been identified for the charity and are described below along with the principal ways 

in which they are mitigated: 

Safeguarding children and vulnerable adults 

The charity’s beneficiaries include children and adults in vulnerable groups and the 

trustees recognise the absolute necessity of ensuring the protection and safety of all those 

served.  The following steps have been taken to manage this risk: 

 As a Congregation we are committed to complying with and implementing all 

safeguarding policies and procedures of the Catholic Church in England and Wales; 

 The charity has one sister who is responsible for ensuring this policy is adhered to in 

respect to all sisters living and working in the United Kingdom; 

 All sisters who are in any kind of ministry in England have to obtain clearance from the 

Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS); and 

 The General Manager is responsible to see that the care home gets clearance from the 

Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) for all staff and volunteers.   
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GOVERNANCE, STRUCTURE, AND MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Risk management (continued) 

Long term financial support of the members of the Congregation 

The Congregation has a moral and legal obligation to care for the older members. Records 

show that the average age of the members in England is 76 years as at 31st December 

2019. Members of the Congregation have no financial resources of their own.  All earnings, 

pensions and other income have been donated to the charity under a Gift Aid compliant 

Deed of Covenant. As the age profile increases so too does the need for care and different 

kinds of support.  The following steps have been taken to manage this risk: 

 Ensuring the charity has the financial resources to meet the needs of care both now 

and into the future by setting aside assets in a designated fund, the value of which is 

based on actuarial principles; 

 Ensuring regular evaluations are in place to monitor the needs and ministries of 

individual sisters. Offering pastoral care and discernment to those who need it to review 

their individual workloads, encouraging members towards less demanding ministries 

and identifying those who need extra care and assistance; 

 Providing basic practical assistance that enables sisters to carry on external ministry as 

long as they wish and, within what is reasonably possible; and 

 Producing a 25 year forecast of our income and expenditure, to clarify our financial 

position going forward. 

Managing the support of overseas missions 

The charity donates significant sums of money to support the work of the wider 

Congregation. It also supports other organisations with similar objectives. The vast majority 

of donations are sent overseas to fund the international works of the Franciscan 

Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood.  It is important that the funding is directed where it 

is most needed and applied for the purpose for which it was intended. The following steps 

have been taken to manage this risk 

 Ensuring trustees are familiar with the works of the charity, whether in the UK or 

overseas, and all requests for donations have a clear process; 

 Ensuring annual budgets are prepared in-country and presented to the Country Leader 

and her Team prior to presenting to the trustees; 

 Ensuring clear deadlines are in place for all reporting and ensuring these are adhered 

to. Monthly management reports are sent to the charity’s UK finance office, 6 monthly 

and annual reports are sent to the trustees for their consideration. These are presented 

to the charity’s Finance Advisory Committee (FAC); 
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GOVERNANCE, STRUCTURE, AND MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Risk management  (continued) 

Managing the support of overseas missions (continued) 

 In as far as possible, ensuring all funds are transferred via bank transfer. A second 

clarification of request is made prior to transferring funds. Proof of receipt is obtained 

and (always in the case of monies sent overseas) a written report of how the monies 

have been utilised and applied is obtained from the recipients; and  

 All small project funding must have written approval of the Country Leader and team 

prior to presenting to trustees for consideration. 

Volatility of stock markets 

The charity’s principal assets comprise listed investments, the value of which is dependent 

on movements in UK and world stock markets.  The future financial position of the charity 

is therefore exposed to the downside risk attached to such investments.  The following 

steps have been taken to manage this risk: 

 The investments are managed by reputable investment managers who adhere to a 

policy agreed by the trustees; 

 Nominated named trustees and the FAC meet with the investment managers quarterly; 

their performance and that of the portfolio are monitored; and  

 Investment strategy is assessed regularly to ensure it remains appropriate to the 

charity’s needs – both now and into the future. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the trustees of Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine 

Motherhood Charitable Trust 

Opinion 

We have audited the accounts of Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood 

Charitable Trust (the ‘charity’) for the year ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the 

statement of financial activities, the balance sheet, the statement of cash flows, the principal 

accounting policies and the notes to the accounts. The financial reporting framework that 

has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 

Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice). 

In our opinion, the accounts: 

 Give a true and fair view of the state of the charity’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and 

of its income and expenditure for the year then ended; 

 Have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice; and 

 Have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Charities Act 2011, the 

Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and regulation 8 of the Charities 

Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 

(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 

the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the accounts section of our report. We are 

independent of the charity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 

our audit of the accounts in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs 

(UK) require us to report to you where: 

 The trustees’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 

accounts is not appropriate; or 

 The trustees have not disclosed in the accounts any identified material uncertainties that 

may cast significant doubt about the charity’s ability to continue to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when 

the accounts are authorised for issue. 
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Other information 

The trustees are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 

information included in the Annual Report and Accounts, other than the accounts and our 

auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the accounts does not cover the other information 

and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the accounts, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 

accounts or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, 

we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the accounts or a 

material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 

report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the 

Charities Act 2011 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) 

requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 The information given in the trustees’ report is inconsistent in any material respect with 
the accounts; or 

 Sufficient and proper accounting records have not been kept; or 

 The accounts are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

 We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of trustees 

As explained more fully in the trustees’ responsibilities statement, the trustees are responsible 

for the preparation of the accounts and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, 

and for such internal control as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

In preparing the accounts, the trustees are responsible for assessing the charity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the 

charity or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the accounts 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the accounts as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 

a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these accounts. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the accounts is located on the 

Financial Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 

description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the charity’s trustees, as a body, in accordance with section 144 

of the Charities Act 2011 and with regulations made under section 154 of that Act and in 

accordance with Section 44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 

2005 and Regulation 10 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. Our audit 

work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charity’s trustees those matters we 

are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 

extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 

charity and the charity’s trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 

opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

Buzzacott LLP        17 August 2020 

Statutory Auditor 

130 Wood Street 

London 

EC2V 6DL 

 

 

Buzzacott LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 

2006 
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Notes 

Unrestricted 

funds 

£ 

Restricted 

funds 

£ 

2019 

Total 

funds 

£ 

Unrestricted 
funds 

£ 

Restricted 
funds 

£ 

2018 
Total 
funds 

£ 

Income from: 

Donations and legacies 1 3,692,172 235,641 3,927,813 2,272,780 373,725 2,646,505 

Investments and interest receivable  2 3,078,482 — 3,078,482 2,494,317 — 2,494,317 

Other sources 3 48,260 — 48,260 608,015 — 608,015 

Total income 6,818,914 235,641 7,054,555 5,375,112 373,725 5,748,837 

Expenditure on: 

Raising funds 4 151,610 — 151,610 137,377 — 137,377 

Charitable activities 

. Grants, donations and support of 
  missionary work and ministry 5 1,582,374 239,143 1,821,517 1,342,265 365,710 1,707,975 

. Support of the members of the  
  Congregation and their ministry  6 4,134,605 — 4,134,605 3,312,524 — 3,312,524 

Total expenditure 5,868,589 239,143 6,107,732 4,792,166 365,710 5,157,876 

Net income (expenditure) for the year 

before investment gains and losses 950,325 (3,502) 946,823 582,946 8,015  590,961 

Net gains (losses) on the revaluation and 
disposal of investments 12 8,704,844 — 8,704,844 (6,056,407) —  (6,056,407) 

Net losses on the revaluation and disposal 
of investment property 12 (9,000) — (9,000) (400,000) —  (400,000) 

Net income (expenditure) for the year 

and net movement in funds 8 9,646,169 (3,502) 9,642,667 (5,873,461) 8,015  (5,865,446) 

Reconciliation of funds 

Total funds brought forward 

at 1 January 2019 93,519,779 204,111 93,723,890 99,393,240 196,096 99,589,336 

Total funds carried forward  

at 31 December 2019 103,165,948 200,609 103,366,557 93,519,779 204,111 93,723,890 

All recognised gains and losses are included in the above statement of financial activities. 

All the charity’s activities derived from continuing operations in each of the above two 

financial years. 
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Notes 
2019 

£ 

2019 

£ 

2018 
£ 

2018 
£ 

Fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets 11  14,235,464  14,233,924 

Investments 12  86,158,437  77,754,651 

 100,393,901  91,988,575 

Current assets 

Debtors 13  563,087 446,317 

Cash at bank and in hand 3,353,667 2,177,159 

3,916,754 2,623,476 

Liabilities 

Creditors: amounts falling due 

within one year 14  (944,098) (888,161) 

Net current assets 2,972,656 1,735,315 

Total net assets  103,366,557  93,723,890 

The funds of the charity 

Income funds: 

Restricted funds 15  200,609 204,111 

Unrestricted funds 

. Tangible fixed assets fund 16  14,235,464  14,233,924 

. Designated funds 17  87,500,000  78,200,000 

. General funds 1,430,484 1,085,855 

 103,366,557  93,723,890 

Approved by the trustees 

and signed on their behalf by: 

Sister Helena McEvilly 

Trustee 

Approved by the trustees on: 24 July 2020 
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Notes 
2019 

£ 

2018 
£ 

Cash flows from operating activities: 

Net cash used in operating activities A  (1,759,814) (2,259,318) 

Cash flows from investing activities: 

Investment income from listed investments and interest received 
3,198,325 2,487,464 

Rents received from investment properties — 12,856 

Proceeds from the disposal of tangible fixed assets 340,045 713,244 

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (673,598) (737,860) 

Proceeds from the disposal of investment property 991,000 — 

Proceeds from the disposal of listed investments 64,239,247  22,640,346 

Purchase of listed investments  (65,648,970)  (22,054,814) 

Net cash provided by investing activities 2,446,049 3,061,236 

Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year 686,235 801,918 

Change due to foreign exchange movement (220,508) 9,371 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2019 B  8,361,078 7,549,789 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2019 B  8,826,805 8,361,078 

Notes to the statement of cash flows for the year to 31 December 2019. 

A Reconciliation of net income for the year to net cash used in operating activities 

2019 

£ 

2018 
£ 

Net income (expenditure) for the year (as per the statement of 

financial activities) 9,642,667 (5,865,446) 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation charge 331,829 339,641 

Loss (surplus) on disposal of tangible fixed assets 184 (438,411) 

(Gains) losses on revaluation and disposal of listed investments (8,704,844) 6,056,407 

Losses on revaluation and disposal of investment property 9,000 400,000 

Foreign exchange losses (gains) 220,508 (9,371) 

Investment income and interest receivable (3,078,482) (2,494,317) 

Increase in debtors (236,613) (147,734) 

Increase (decrease) in creditors 55,937 (100,087) 

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,759,814) (2,259,318) 
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B    Analysis of cash and cash equivalents 

      2019 

£ 

 2018 
£ 

         
Cash at bank and in hand       3,353,667  2,177,159 

Cash held by investment managers      11  11 

Cash instruments held by investment managers    5,473,127  6,183,908 

Total cash and cash equivalents      8,826,805  8,361,078 
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The principal accounting policies adopted, judgements and key sources of estimation 

uncertainty in the preparation of the accounts are laid out below. 

Basis of preparation 

These accounts have been prepared for the year to 31 December 2019. Comparative 

information is provided in respect to the year ended 31 December 2018. 

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention with items 

recognised at cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the relevant accounting 

policies below or the notes to these accounts.  

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with Accounting and Reporting by 

Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their 

accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United 

Kingdom and Republic of Ireland (Charities SORP FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014, the 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) and 

the Charities Act 2011.  

The charity constitutes a public benefit entity as defined by FRS 102. 

The accounts are presented in sterling and are rounded to the nearest pound.  

Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement 

Preparation of the accounts requires the trustees and management to make significant 

judgements and estimates.   

The items in the accounts where these judgements and estimates have been made 

include those in respect to: 

 the estimation of legacy income to which the charity has entitlement but has not yet 

received; 

 the useful economic lives attributed to tangible fixed assets used to determine the 

annual depreciation charge;  

 the assumptions adopted by the trustees in determining the value of any designations 

required from the charity’s general unrestricted funds; and 

 estimating future income and expenditure flows for the purpose of assessing the 

charity’s going concern (see below). 
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Assessment of going concern 

The trustees have assessed whether the use of the going concern assumption is 

appropriate in preparing these accounts. The trustees have made this assessment in 

respect to a period of one year from the date of approval of these accounts.   

The trustees of the charity have concluded that there are no material uncertainties related 

to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the charity to 

continue as a going concern. The trustees are of the opinion that the charity will have 

sufficient resources to meet its liabilities as they fall due. 

In forming their assessment the trustees considered the impact of the current coronavirus 

pandemic on the charity’s operations, with a particular focus on its effect on the charity’s 

financial position including the charity’s income, expenditure and reserves; the charity’s 

beneficiaries; and the charity’s employees.  Whilst they acknowledge the disruption caused 

by the pandemic to the charity’s day-to-day operations, the trustees do not consider this to 

be cause for material uncertainty in respect to the charity’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. 

The most significant areas of judgement that affect items in the accounts are detailed 

above.  With regard to the next accounting period, the year ending 31 December 2020, the 

most significant areas that affect the carrying value of the assets held by the charity are the 

level of investment return and the performance of the investment markets (see the 

investment policy, investment performance and the risk management sections of the 

trustees’ report for more information as well as the section headed ‘effects of COVID-19 

outbreak’).  

Income recognition 

Income is recognised in the period in which the charity has entitlement to the income, the 

amount of income can be measured reliably and it is probable that the income will be 

received.  

Income comprises donations and legacies, investment income, interest receivable and 

sundry income. 

Donations, including salaries and pensions of individual religious received under Gift Aid or 

deed of covenant, are recognised when the charity has confirmation of both the amount 

and settlement date. In the event of donations pledged but not received, the amount is 

accrued for where the receipt is considered probable. In the event that a donation is 

subject to conditions that require a level of performance before the charity is entitled to the 

funds, the income is deferred and not recognised until either those conditions are fully met, 

or the fulfilment of those conditions is wholly within the control of the charity and it is 

probable that those conditions will be fulfilled in the reporting period. 

In accordance with the Charities SORP FRS 102 volunteer time is not recognised. 

Legacies are included in the statement of financial activities when the charity is entitled to 

the legacy, the executors have established that there are sufficient surplus assets in the 

estate to pay the legacy, and any conditions attached to the legacy are within the control of 

the charity.  
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Income recognition (continued) 

Entitlement is taken as the earlier of the date on which either: the charity is aware that 

probate has been granted, the estate has been finalised and notification has been made by 

the executor to the charity that a distribution will be made, or when a distribution is received 

from the estate. Receipt of a legacy, in whole or in part, is only considered probable when 

the amount can be measured reliably and the charity has been notified of the executor’s 

intention to make a distribution. Where legacies have been notified to the charity, or the 

charity is aware of the granting of probate, but the criteria for income recognition have not 

been met, then the legacy is treated as a contingent asset and disclosed if material. In the 

event that the gift is in the form of an asset other than cash or a financial asset traded on a 

recognised stock exchange, recognition is subject to the value of the gift being reliably 

measurable with a degree of reasonable accuracy and the title of the asset having being 

transferred to the charity. 

Investment income is recognised once the dividend has been declared and notification has 

been received of the dividend due. 

Interest on funds held on deposit is included when receivable and the amount can be 

measured reliably by the charity; this is normally upon notification of the interest paid or 

payable by the bank. 

The surplus on disposal of tangible fixed assets is calculated as the difference between the 

sale proceeds net of sale costs and the net book value of the asset immediately prior to 

disposal.  It is accounted for once legal completion of the disposal has taken place. 

Income from other sources including retreat house charges is accounted for on an 

accruals basis and is stated at fair value net of any discounts etc. 

Services provided by members of the Congregation 

For the purpose of these accounts, no value has been placed on administrative and other 

services provided by the members of the Congregation. 

Expenditure recognition 

Liabilities are recognised as expenditure as soon as there is a legal or constructive 

obligation committing the charity to make a payment to a third party, it is probable that a 

transfer of economic benefits will be required in settlement and the amount of the 

obligation can be measured reliably. 

All expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis. All expenses are allocated or to the 

applicable expenditure headings. The majority of expenditure is directly attributable and 

any apportionment between headings is negligible. The classification between activities is 

as follows: 

 Expenditure on raising funds comprises investment management fees and costs 

associated with the maintenance of the charity’s investment properties. 

 Expenditure on charitable activities includes all costs associated with furthering the 

charitable purposes of the charity through the provision of its charitable activities. Such 

costs include: 
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Expenditure recognition (continued) 

 Grants and donations payable which, in the main, relate to the support of the other 

parts of the worldwide Congregation’s and its overseas missions.  Grants payable 

are included in the statement of financial activities when approved and when the 

intended recipient has either received the funds or been informed of the decision to 

make the grant and has satisfied all performance conditions. Grants approved but 

not paid at the end of the financial year are accrued. Grants where the beneficiary 

has not been informed or has to fulfil performance conditions before the grant is 

released are not accrued for but are disclosed as financial commitments in the 

notes to the accounts. 

 Expenditure on the support of members of the Congregation and their ministry 

enables the members to carry out the charitable work of the Congregation in the 

areas of the advancement of the Roman Catholic faith, the provision of nursing 

care, the advancement of education and the relief of poverty.  Such expenditure 

includes governance costs which comprise the costs involving the public 

accountability of the charity (including audit costs) and costs in respect to its 

compliance with regulation and good practice. 

All expenditure is stated inclusive of irrecoverable VAT. 

Pension costs 

Contributions to employees’ personal pension plans and defined contribution pension 

schemes are debited to the statement of financial activities in the year in which they are 

payable.  

Tangible fixed assets 

All assets costing more than £3,000 and which have an expected life exceeding one year 

are capitalised. 

 Freehold land and buildings 

 Freehold land and buildings, and major improvements to buildings, are included in the 

accounts at cost, with the exception of The Haven property which is included at fair 

value at the date of reclassification from investment properties. 

 Non-specialised buildings i.e. those designed as, and used wholly or mainly for, private 

residential accommodation are not depreciated. Their value and condition are 

reviewed annually by the trustees, who are satisfied that their residual value is not 

materially less than their book value. Any depreciation thereon, therefore, would be 

immaterial. 

 Specialised buildings are defined as those comprising the charity’s large residential 

convents. With the exception of buildings under construction, depreciation is provided 

at 2% per annum on a straight line basis in order to write the buildings off over their 

estimated useful economic life to the charity. Buildings under construction are not 

depreciated. 
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Tangible fixed assets (continued) 

 Freehold land and buildings (continued) 

 Properties previously held for investment purposes and transferred to tangible fixed 

assets upon change of use are transferred at their most recent carrying value, which 

would be an estimate of its market value.  Following transfer, the market value is taken 

to be the assets deemed cost. 

 Furniture and equipment  

Expenditure on the purchase and replacement of furniture and equipment is capitalised 

and depreciated between four and ten years on a straight line basis. A full year’s 

depreciation charge is provided in the year of acquisition where the tangible fixed asset 

was purchased in the first half of the financial year. No depreciation is charged on 

purchases made during the second half of the financial year. 

 Motor vehicles  

Motor vehicles are capitalised and depreciated over a four-year period, on a straight 

line basis, in order to write off the cost of each vehicle over its estimated useful life. 

Investments 

 Listed investments are a form of basic financial instrument and are initially recognised 

at their transaction value and subsequently measured at their fair value as at the 

balance sheet date using the closing quoted market price.  

The charity does not acquire put options, derivatives or other complex financial 

instruments. 

As noted above the main form of financial risk faced by the charity is that of volatility in 

equity markets and investment markets due to wider economic conditions, the attitude 

of investors to investment risk, and changes in sentiment concerning equities and 

within particular sectors or sub sectors. 

 Properties held for investment purposes are included in these accounts at open market 

value.  

Realised gains (or losses) on investment assets are calculated as the difference between 

disposal proceeds and their opening carrying value or their purchase value is acquired 

subsequent to the first day of the financial year.  Unrealised gains and losses are 

calculated as the difference between the fair value at the year end and their carrying value 

at that date.  Realised and unrealised investment gains (or losses) are combined in the 

statement of financial activities and are credited (or debited) in the year in which they arise. 

Debtors 

Debtors are recognised at their settlement amount, less any provision for non-

recoverability. Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid. They have been discounted 

to the present value of the future cash receipt where such discounting is material. 
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Cash at bank and in hand 

Cash at bank and in hand represents such accounts and instruments that are available on 

demand or have a maturity of less than three months from the date of acquisition. Deposits 

for more than three months but less than one year have been disclosed as short term 

deposits. Cash placed on deposit for more than one year is disclosed as a fixed asset 

investment. 

Creditors and provisions 

Creditors and provisions are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet 

date as a result of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be 

required in settlement, and the amount of the settlement can be estimated reliably. 

Creditors and provisions are recognised at the amount the charity anticipates it will pay to 

settle the debt. They have been discounted to the present value of the future cash payment 

where such discounting is material. 

Fund structure 

Restricted funds comprise monies raised for, or their use restricted to, a specific purpose, 

or contributions subject to donor imposed conditions. 

Designated funds comprise monies set aside out of unrestricted funds for specific future 

purposes or projects. 

The tangible fixed assets fund comprises the net book value of charity’s tangible fixed 

assets, the existence of which is fundamental to the charity being able to perform its 

charitable work and thereby achieve its charitable objectives. The value represented by 

such assets should not be regarded, therefore, as realisable. 

General funds represent those monies which are freely available for application towards 

achieving any charitable purpose that falls within the charity’s charitable objects. 

Foreign currencies 

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rates of 

exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies are 

translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. 

Exchange differences are taken into account in arriving at the net movement in funds. 
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1 Income from donations and legacies 

  Unrestricted 

 funds 

 £ 

  Restricted 

  funds 

 £ 

  Total 

 2019 

 £ 

 Unrestricted 
funds 

 £ 

 Restricted 
 funds 

£ 

  Total 
 2018 
 £ 

             
Covenanted salaries and pensions of 
individual religious 

 
       791,005   —          791,005  

 
788,669 

 
— 

 
788,669 

Contributions and transfers from other 
overseas regions of the Franciscan 
Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood  

 

    1,200,426   —       1,200,426  

 

1,117,177  —  1,117,177 

Donations to be applied towards 
overseas regions 

 
              288           228,806           229,094  

 
— 

 
373,725 

 
373,725 

General donations and legacies      1,700,453               6,835        1,707,288   366,934  —  366,934 

  3,692,172  235,641  3,927,813  2,272,780  373,725  2,646,505 

2 Income from investments and interest receivable  

  Unrestricted 

funds 

£ 

 Restricted 

 funds 

£ 

 Total 

2019 

£ 

 Unrestricted 
funds 

£ 

 Restricted 
 funds 

£ 

 Total 
2018 

£ 

             
Income from listed investments             

. UK equities   1,775,322  —  1,775,322  1,515,026  —  1,515,026 

. UK fixed interest pooled funds  967,257  —  967,257  667,919  —  667,919 

. UK other pooled funds   46,175  —  46,175  26,433  —  26,433 

. Overseas pooled funds  228,754  —  228,754  226,589  —  226,589 

  3,017,508  —  3,017,508  2,435,967  —  2,435,967 

Interest receivable             

. Interest on cash held by  
  investment managers  

 
17,345  —  17,345 

 
15,594 

 
— 

  
15,594 

. Cash instruments  39,062  —  39,062  28,197  —  28,197 

. Bank interest  4,567  —  4,567  1,703  —  1,703 

  60,974  —  60,974  45,494  —  45,494 

             

Income from investment properties  —  —  —  12,856  —  12,856 

             

             

  3,078,482  —  3,078,482  2,494,317  —  2,494,317 

3 Income from other sources 

  Unrestricted 

funds 

£ 

 Restricted 

 funds 

£ 

 Total 

2019 

£ 

 Unrestricted 
funds 

£ 

 Restricted 
 funds 

£ 

 Total 
2018 

£ 

             
Gains on the disposal of tangible 
fixed assets  

 
—  —  — 

 
438,411 

 

— 

 
438,411 

Retreat house charges  7,290  —  7,290  111,804  —  111,804 

Sundry income  40,970  —  40,970  48,429  —  48,429 

Foreign exchange gains    —    9,371  —  9,371 

  48,260  —  48,260  608,015  —  608,015 

4 Expenditure on raising funds 

  Unrestricted 

 funds 

 £ 

  Restricted 

  funds 

 £ 

  Total 

 2019 

 £ 

  Unrestricted 

 funds 

 £ 

  Restricted 

  funds 

 £ 

  Total 

 2018 

 £ 

             

Investment manager’s fees 
 

151,610  —  151,610  137,377  —  137,377 
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5 Expenditure on charitable activities: 

Grants, donations and support of missionary work and ministry 

  Unrestricted 

 funds 

£  

Restricted 

 funds 

£  

Total 

2019 

£ 

 Unrestricted 
funds 

£ 

 Restricted 
 funds 

£ 

 Total 
2018 

£ 

Support of missionary work and ministry             

Grants in support of the missionary work and 
ministry of the Congregation in Africa 

 
           

.  Nigeria  199,584  30,262  229,846  176,190  72,822  249,012 

.  Zambia  167,073  70,501  237,574  113,267  110,880  224,147 

.  Zimbabwe  41,148  9,513  50,661  47,636  11,770  59,406 

Payments in support of the missionary work and 
ministry of the Congregation in Singapore and 
Malaysia 

 

16,270  —  16,270  1,597  —  1,597 

Grants towards the support of members of the 
Congregation in Ireland and other regions 

 
1,011,683  —  1,011,683  819,371  —  819,371 

  1,435,758  110,276  1,546,034  1,158,061  195,472  1,353,533 

Donations of £1,000 or more to institutions              

Age UK             

.  towards their work with older people  1,000  —  1,000  1,000  —  1,000 

Brushstrokes Centre             

.  towards refurbishing the kitchen at their 
community cafe 

 
1,000  —  1,000  —  —  

 
— 

CAFOD             

.  to assist their work tackling poverty and  
   encouraging development of the world’s poorest 
   and disadvantaged people 

 

2,000  —  2,000  2,000   —  2,000 

.  Cyclone Idai crisis   2,000  —  2,000       

.  Rohingya crisis  —  —  —  1,000  —  1,000 

Caritas             

.  towards the cost of an admin assistant for the 
administrator in Gaza 

 
—  —  —  7,837  —  7,837 

.  Misean Cara funding: emergency intervention for 
the wounded in Gaza 

 
—  —  —  —  13,255  13,255 

.  Misean Cara funding: strengthening civil society 
as a means of morbidity reduction for vulnerable 
older people in the Gaza Strip, Palestine 

 

—  —  —  —  115,241  115,241 

.  Misean Cara funding: Extending Care of the 
Elderly in Palestine 

 
—  8,620  8,620  —  —  — 

.  Misean Cara funding: Mobile Medical Team  —  115,980  115,980  —  —  — 

.  Other  —  4,267  4,267  —  —  — 

Catholic Trust for England and Wales             

.  towards the work of the Catholic Council for 
   the Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual  
   Abuse 

 

7,500  —  7,500  —  —  — 

Catholic Women Speak             

.  towards the cost of symposium and book launch  —  —  —  1,000  —  1,000 

Damietta Peace Initiative - Nigeria             

.  capacity building training for DPI’s enablers on  
   counter-terrorism 

 
—  —  —  7,584  —  

 
7,584 

.  continuity of DPI activities in schools and prisons  5,881  —  5,881  9,958  —  9,958 

Dominican Sisters, Bethlehem             

.  towards the running cost of St Joseph’s nursery  10,687  —  10,687  10,256  —  10,256 

Durham University             

.  sponsorship of the Franciscan Studies 
Conference 

 
5,000  —  5,000  —  —  

 
— 

FMDM in Gaza             

.  supporting Sister’s work with vulnerable people  4,267  —  4,267  7,365  —  7,365 

FMDM Nigeria, Jos             

.  Misean Cara funding: empowering vulnerable 
widows who lost their husbands during the 
recurrent crises in Jos through skills acquisition 

 

—  —  —  —  22,194  

 
 

22,194 

             

Balance carried forward             39,335   128,867   168,202             48,000        150,690        198,690  
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5 Expenditure on charitable activities: 

Grants, donations and support of missionary work and ministry (continued) 

  Unrestricted 

 funds 

£ 

 Restricted 

 funds 

£ 

 Total 

2019 

£ 

 Unrestricted 
funds 

£ 

 Restricted 
 funds 

£ 

 Total 
2018 

£ 

             

Balance brought forward            39,335   128,867   168,202             48,000        150,690        198,690  

             

FMDM Zambia, Kasanka             

.  Misean Cara funding: expansion of ECD, primary 
and adult education by constructing a 1x3 
classroom at St Francis Community School 

 

—  —  —  —  19,548  19,548 

Hope for Justice              

.  towards their work with victims of modern day 
slavery 

 
1,000  —  1,000  1,000  —  1,000 

Mater Dei, Zimbabwe             

.  community vegetable project  —  —  —  7,650  —  7,650 

Medaille Trust             

.  to help stop trafficking of women  2,000  —  2,000  2,000  —  2,000 

Our Lady of Victory Rehabilitation Centre             

.  provision of relief materials  5,310  —  5,310  —  —  — 

.  borehole   1,497  —  1,497  —  —  — 

Share Action             

.  towards the post of AGM Coordinator  5,000  —  5,000  5,000  —  5,000 

St Mark’s Foodbank, Godalming             

.  to help buy specialised items e.g. baby milk  1,000  —  1,000  1,000  —  1,000 

St Theresa’s Internally Displaced Persons Camp, 

Nigeria 

 
           

.  feeding programme  —  —  —  13,168  —  13,168 

St Peter’s Seminary, Nigeria             

.  renovation of science laboratories  10,654  —  10,654  —  —  — 

. laboratory equipment  1,132  —  1,132  —  —  — 

Synod Fruits             

.  towards their campaign to spread the Pope’s 
‘Christus Vint’ message 

 
1,000  —  1,000  —  —  — 

Tunkus School, Nigeria             

.  staff salaries for six months  5,699  —  5,699  1,450  —  1,450 

.  solar pump  —  —  —  4,236  —  4,236 

             

  73,627  128,867  202,494  83,504  170,238  253,742 

             

Other donations to institutions (all less than £1,000)  8,182  —  8,182  7,475  —  7,475 

Total donations to institutions  81,809   128,867   210,676  90,979  170,238  261,217 

             

Donations to individuals             

Donations of £1,000 or more  41,739  —  41,739  62,602  —  62,602 

Other donations (all less than £1,000)  23,068  —  23,068  30,623  —  30,623 

  64,807  —  64,807  93,225  —  93,225 

             

  1,582,374   239,143   1,821,517  1,342,265  365,710  1,707,975 

 

Donations of £1,000 or more were made to 10 individuals (2018 - 15 individuals). 

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the charity pledged £1m to help support Franciscan 

Studies at Durham University.  The pledge was conditional upon similar commitments being 

received from other congregations. 
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6 Expenditure on charitable activities: 

Support of members of the Congregation and their ministry 

  Unrestricted 

 funds 

 £ 

  Restricted 

 funds 

 £ 

  Total 

 2019 

 £ 

  Unrestricted 
 funds 
 £ 

  Restricted 
 funds 
 £ 

  Total 
 2018 
 £ 

             
Premises  614,252  —  614,252  516,768  —  516,768 

Sisters’ living and personal 
expenses 

 
637,421 

 
— 

 
637,421 

 
597,685 

 
— 

 
597,685 

Education, training and 
spiritual renewal 

 
449,976 

 
— 

 
449,976 

 
312,900 

 
— 

 
312,900 

Depreciation  331,829  —  331,829  339,640  —  339,640 

Staff costs  1,440,598  —  1,440,598  1,200,581  —  1,200,581 

Retreat centre expenses  3,848  —  3,848  25,379  —  25,379 

Foreign exchange losses  220,508  —  220,508  —  —  — 

Other support costs  403,909  —  403,909  288,331  —  288,331 

Loss on disposal of tangible 
fixed assets 

 
184 

 
— 

 
184 

 
— 

 
— 

 
— 

Governance costs (note 7)  32,080  —  32,080  31,240  —  31,240 

  4,134,605  —  4,134,605  3,312,524  —  3,312,524 

7 Governance costs 

  Unrestricted 

 funds 

 £ 

  Restricted 

 funds 

 £ 

  Total 

 2019 

 £ 

  Unrestricted 
 funds 
 £ 

  Restricted 
 funds 
 £ 

  Total 
 2018 
 £ 

             
Legal and professional fees  32,080  —  32,080  31,240  —  31,240 

8 Net income (expenditure) for the year and net movement in funds 

This is stated after charging: 
   Total 

 2019 

 £ 

  Total 
 2018 
 £ 

     
Staff costs (note 9)  1,440,598  1,200,582 

Auditor’s remuneration (including VAT)     

. Statutory audit services  19,200  18,840 

. Other: advisory services  12,800  14,500 

Depreciation  331,829  339,641 

9 Staff costs and remuneration of key management personnel 
   Total 

 2019 

 £ 

  Total 
 2018 
 £ 

     
Staff costs during the year were as follows:     

Wages and salaries  1,281,339  1,081,869 

Social security costs  107,364  86,061 

Other pension costs  44,589  28,080 

Termination payments  5,000  4,572 

  1,438,292  1,200,582 

     

Self-employed and agency staff  2,306  — 

  1,440,598  1,200,582 

 

All staff costs relate to the support of members of the Congregation and their ministry. 
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9 Staff costs and remuneration of key management personnel (continued) 

The average number of employees, analysed by function, was: 

  Full-time equivalent  Head count 

   2019   2018   2019   2018 

         
Support of members of the Congregation 
and their ministry 

  

53 

  
47 

  

61 

  
58 

 

One employee earned between £60,000 and £70,000 per annum (including taxable 

benefits but excluding employer pension contributions) during the year (2018 - one). 

The trustees consider that they and the senior management team – the Head of Finance 

and Business Administration the and the Director of Operations for Ladywell Complex - 

comprise the key management of the charity in charge of directing and controlling, running 

and operating the charity on a day to day basis.  The total remuneration (including taxable 

benefits, employer's  pension  contributions, and employer’s social security costs)  of  the  

key  management  personnel  for  the  year  was £150,869 (2018 - £135,325).  

As members of the Congregation, the living and personal expenses of the trustees were 

borne by the charity during the year. However, they received no remuneration and no 

reimbursement of expenses incurred in connection with their roles during the year (2018 - 

£nil). 

10 Taxation 

The Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood Charitable Trust is a registered 

charity and, therefore, is not liable to income tax or corporation tax on income or gains 

derived from its charitable activities, as they fall within the various exemptions available to 

registered charities. 



Notes to the accounts  31 December 2019   

 Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood Charitable Trust 51 

 

11 Tangible fixed assets 
  Freehold land and 

buildings 
    

 
 
 
 

   
 Non- 
 specialised 
 £ 

   
  
 Specialised 
 £ 

  Furniture 
 and 
 equipment 
 £ 

  
 Motor 
 vehicles 
 £ 

  

  

 Total 

 £ 
           

Cost            

At 1 January 2019  5,533,578  12,002,895  547,012  284,926  18,368,411 

Additions  595,315  —  52,888  25,395  673,598 

Disposals  (340,229)  —  (5,286)  (24,107)  (369,622) 

At 31 December 2019  5,788,664  12,002,895  594,614  286,214  18,672,387 
           

Depreciation           

At 1 January 2019  —  3,660,455  221,602  252,430  4,134,487 

Charge for the year  —  248,720  62,212  20,897  331,829 

On disposals  —  —  (5,286)  (24,107)  (29,393) 

At 31 December 2019  —  3,909,175  278,528  249,220  4,436,923 
           

Net book values           

At 31 December 2019  5,788,664  8,093,720  316,086  36,994  14,235,464 

At 31 December 2018  5,533,578  8,342,440  325,410  32,496  14,233,924 

It is likely that there are material differences between the open market values of the 

charity’s land and buildings and their net book values. These arise from the specialist 

nature of some properties and the effects of inflation. The amount of such differences 

cannot be ascertained without incurring significant costs, which in the opinion of the 

trustees, is not justified in terms of the benefit to the users of the accounts. 

At 31 December 2019, the charity had capital commitments of £5,900,000 (2018 - £nil) in 

respect to work contracted for but not delivered by the balance sheet date.  This was wholly 

in relation to the renovation and development of Ladywell Convent and Retreat Centre. 

12 Investments  
  2019 

£ 

 2018 
£ 

     
Investment properties  —  1,000,000 

Listed investments  80,685,299  70,570,732 

Cash held by investment manager for re-investment   11  11 

Cash instruments  5,473,127  6,183,908 

  86,158,437  77,754,651 
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12 Investments (continued) 

 

  2019 

£ 

 2018 
£ 

     
Investment properties     

Market value at 1 January 2019  1,000,000  1,400,000 

Unrealised loss on revaluation  —  (400,000) 

Proceeds from disposal  (991,000)  — 

Realised loss on disposal  (9,000)  — 

Disposal at book value  (1,000,000)  — 

Market value at 31 December 2019  —  1,000,000 

Cost of investment properties at 31 December 2019  —  228,739 

 
  2019 

£ 

 2018 
£ 

     
Listed investments     

Market value at 1 January 2019  70,570,732  77,251,062 

Additions at cost  65,648,970  22,054,814 

Proceeds from disposal  (64,239,247)  (22,678,737) 

Realised gains (losses) on disposal  5,842,273  (718,363) 

Disposals at book value  (58,396,974)  (23,397,100) 

Unrealised gains (losses)   2,862,571  (5,338,044) 

Market value at 31 December 2019  80,685,299  70,570,732 

Cash held by investment manager for reinvestment  11  11 

Cash instruments  5,473,127  6,183,908 

  86,158,437  76,754,651 

     

Cost of listed investments at 31 December 2019  79,701,409  65,134,680 

Listed investments held at 31 December 2019 comprised the following: 
  2019 

£ 

 2018 
£ 

     
UK equities  24,515,481  34,373,392 

UK fixed interest pooled funds  15,583,134  19,285,262 

UK other pooled funds  25,990,954  7,068,511 

Overseas equity pooled funds  5,559,275  8,839,969 

International equity  9,036,455  1,003,598 

  80,685,299  70,570,732 

All listed investments were dealt in on a recognised stock exchange.  
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12 Investments (continued) 

At 31 December 2019, listed investments included the following individual holdings deemed 

material when compared with the overall portfolio valuation as at that date. 

   

 

 

 

Value of 

holding 

£ 

 Percentage 
of total 
market 

value of 
listed 

investments 
% 

     
iShares IV MSCI USA ESG USD (Dis)  8,230,940   22.6% 

iShares IV MSCI EMU ESG GBP (Dis)  5,559,275   6.9% 

BlackRock Charities UK Equity ESG Fund Class A (Inc)  25,990,954   32.2% 

BlackRock Charities UK Bond Fund Class A (Inc)  15,583,134   19.3% 

Tactical Opportunities Fund Class X Hedged GBP (Acc)  7,844,820   9.7% 

Since the year end, global stock markets had become volatile in response to the COVID-19 

pandemic.  However, most markets have rallied since the initial reaction and as at 9 June 

2020 the capital value of FMDM’s listed investment portfolio had only dropped by 4½%. 

when compared to the valuation at 31 December 2019. 

13 Debtors 
  2019 

£ 

 2018 
£ 

     
Investment income receivable  20,223  140,066 

Legacies receivable  —  52,850 

Prepayments and accrued income  518,086  192,728 

Other debtors  24,778  22,282 

Investment holding disposal  —  38,391 

  563,087  446,317 
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14 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
  2019 

£ 

 2018 
£ 

     
Monies administered by the charity on behalf of individual members  
of the Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood 

 
613,891 

 
606,358 

Amounts due to and held on behalf of other overseas regions of the  
Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood 

 
8,051 

 
26,393 

Social security and other taxes  40,627  28,893 

Other creditors  182,847  101,761 

Accruals  98,682  124,756 

  944,098  888,161 

15 Restricted funds 

The income funds of the charity include restricted funds comprising the following 

unexpended balances of donations and grants held on trusts to the applied for specific 

purposes: 

 
   At 

 1 January 

 2019 

 £ 

  

 

 Income 

 £ 

  

 

 Expenditure 

 £ 

  

 Gains 

 and losses 

 £ 

  At 

31 December 

 2019 

 £ 

           
Misean Cara funds  —  124,593  (124,600)  —  (7) 

Other mission funds  204,111  104,213  (110,276)  —  198,048 

Other restricted funds  —  6,835  (4,267)  —  2,568 

  204,111  235,641  (239,143)  —  200,609 

 

 
 

  At 
 1 January 
 2018 
 £ 

  
 
 Income 
 £ 

  
 
 Expenditure 
 £ 

  
 Gains 
 and losses 
 £ 

  At 
 31 December 
 2018 
 £ 

           
Misean Cara funds  1,225  170,238  (171,463)  —  — 

Other mission funds  194,871  203,487  (194,247)  —  204,111 

  196,096  373,725  (365,710)  —  204,111 

 Misean Cara funds comprise monies received from Misean Cara, Ireland, for the 

support of specific projects which are being undertaken by the Congregation in Africa 

and Gaza.  Funds in deficit at the year-end will be replenished using funds received 

during the following year. 

 Other mission funds comprise monies to be applied towards the Congregation’s 

missions overseas. 

 Other restricted funds comprise donations received principally at community level 

where the donation was subject to donor imposed conditions. 
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16 Tangible fixed assets fund 

  2019 

£ 

 2018 

£ 

     
At 1 January 2019  14,233,924  14,110,538 

Net movement in year  1,540  123,386 

At 31 December 2019  14,235,464  14,233,924 

 

The tangible fixed assets fund represents the net book value of the charity’s tangible fixed 

assets. A decision was made to separate this fund from the general funds of the charity in 

recognition of the fact that the tangible fixed assets are essential to the day to day work of 

the charity and as such their value should not be regarded as being realisable, in order to 

meet future contingencies. 

17 Designated funds 

The income funds of the charity include the following designated funds which have been set 

aside out of unrestricted funds by the trustees for specific purposes: 

   At 

 1 January 

 2019 

 £ 

  

 New 

designations  

 £ 

  

 Utilised/ 

 released 

 £ 

  At 31 

 December 

 2019 

 £ 

         
Sisters’ retirement fund  77,200,000  9,300,000  —  86,500,000 

Missionary sisters’ retirement fund  1,000,000  —  —  1,000,000 

  78,200,000  9,300,000  —  87,500,000 

 
   At 

 1 January 
 2018 
 £ 

  
 New 
 designations  
 £ 

  
 Utilised/ 
 released 
 £ 

  At 31 
 December 
 2018 
 £ 

         
Sisters’ retirement fund  83,200,000  —  (6,000,000)  77,200,000 

Missionary sisters’ retirement fund  1,000,000  —  —  1,000,000 

  84,200,000  —  (6,000,000)  78,200,000 

The funds have been designated for the following purposes: 

 Sisters’ retirement fund  

This consists of monies which the trustees have set aside in order to provide for the 

sisters in later life. The calculations indicate that £90.6 million should be set aside in 

order to provide £22,025 per annum for sisters over 65 years of age and, because of 

the greater health needs, £35,961 per annum for sisters over 75 years of age. In these 

accounts £86.5 million (2018 - £77.2 million) has been set aside for this purpose 

constrained by the funds available to the charity.       

 Missionary sisters’ retirement fund 

The missionary sisters’ retirement fund comprises monies set aside to provide for the 

longer term care and provision for sisters native to Nigeria, Zambia and Zimbabwe. 

These sisters have limited access to salaries and pensions or other income that will be 

available to help them look after themselves in later life. 
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18 Analysis of net assets between funds 
    

 General 

 funds 

 £ 

  Tangible 

 fixed assets 

 fund 

 £ 

  

 Designated 

 funds 

 £ 

  

 Restricted 

 funds 

 £ 

  

 Total 

 2019 

 £ 

           
Fund balances at 

31 December 2019 

are represented by: 

          

Tangible fixed assets  —  14,235,464  —  —  14,235,464 

Investments  —  —  86,158,437  —  86,158,437 

Net current assets  1,430,484  —  1,341,563  200,609  2,972,656 

Total net assets  1,430,484  14,235,464  87,500,000  200,609  103,366,557 

 
    

 General 
 funds 
 £ 

  Tangible 
 fixed assets 
 fund 
 £ 

  
 Designated 
 funds 
 £ 

  
 Restricted 
 funds 
 £ 

  
 Total 
 2018 
 £ 

           
Fund balances at 
31 December 2018 
are represented by: 

          

Tangible fixed assets  —  14,233,924  —  —  14,233,924 

Investments    —  77,754,651  —  77,754,651 

Net current assets  1,085,855  —  445,349  204,111  1,735,315 

Total net assets  1,085,855  14,233,924  78,200,000  204,111  93,723,890 

 

The total unrealised gains as at 31 December 2019 constitute movements on the 

revaluation of investments and are as follows: 

 

  2019 

£ 

 2018 
£ 

     
Unrealised gains included above:     

On listed investments  983,890  5,436,052 

On investment properties  —  771,261 

Total unrealised gains at 31 December 2019  983,890  6,207,313 

     

Reconciliation of movements in unrealised gains     

Unrealised gains at 1 January 2019  6,207,313  16,127,761 

In respect to investment property disposal in the year  (771,261)  — 

In respect to listed investment disposals in the year  (7,314,733)  (4,182,404) 

  (1,878,681)  11,945,357 

Net losses arising on revaluation of listed investment properties in year  —  (400,000) 

Net gains (losses) gains arising on revaluation of listed investments in year  2,862,571  (5,338,044) 

Total unrealised gains at 31 December 2019  983,890  6,207,313 

18 Related party transactions 

Income from donations includes the salaries and pensions of the trustees of the 

Congregation received under Gift Aid or deed of covenant.  During the year ended 31 

December 2019, £332 (2018 - £326) was receivable by the charity, being pensions income 

of the trustees donated to the charity.   

There were no other related party transactions requiring disclosure (2018 – none). 
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19 Ultimate control 

The charity, which is constituted as a trust, was controlled throughout the year by the 

Congregation of the Franciscan Missionaries of the Divine Motherhood by virtue of the fact 

that the members of the Congregation elect the Superior General and the General 

Councillors at the General Chapter held ever six years and the General Bursar is appointed 

by the Superior General every three years.  The Congregation does not hold any assets, 

incur liabilities or enter into any transactions in its own right within England.  Assets and 

liabilities in England are vested in the trustees of the charity, who undertake all transactions 

entered into in the course of the Congregation’s charitable activities. 

20 Lease commitments 

At 31 December 2019, the charity had total future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases as follows: 

  2019 

£ 

 2018 
£ 

     
Office equipment:     

Amount due within one year  1,296  — 

Amounts due between two and five years inclusive  4,212  — 

  5,508  — 

21 Custodian Funds 

As at 31 December 2019, the charity was holding funds totalling £6,563 (2018 – £15,196) 

on behalf of the FMDM Beda College in Rome.  These funds were not included in the 

accounts of the charity.  The FMDM Beda College is not part of the charity but is part of the 

wider FMDM Congregation.  The funds were held in a separate bank account from the 

charity’s funds.  


